

"If I had to swear standing between the corner of the Ka'bah and the spot of Ibrāhīm, I would swear that I have not laid my two eyes on anyone like him, nor has he seen anyone as knowledgeable as himself."

- al-Hāfidh adh-Dhahabī

Table of Contents

Introduction

4

Why I Wrote This Book

6

His Upbringing

7

His Abundant Knowledge, Writings, and Excellent Memory

8

His Knowledge of the Various Types of Related Information

11

His Worship

15

His Cautiousness

17

His Zuhd

18

His Poverty and Humility

19

His Physical Appearance and Dress

21

His Miracles and Incredible Foresight

22

His Generosity

25

His Strength and Bravery

27

His Patience Upon Hardship and Firmness Upon the Truth Until Death

29

Allāh Made Him an Authority and a Clarifier of Truth and Falsehood

30

His Death and the Immense Crowd That Attended His Funeral

بستم الله الرَّحْمنِ الرَّحِيم

Indeed, all praise is due to Allāh. We praise Him, seek refuge with Him, and seek His Forgiveness. We seek refuge with Allāh from the evils of our souls, and the mistakes in our actions. Whoever Allāh Guides, there is none who can misguide him, and whoever Allāh misguides, there is none who can guide him. And I testify that there is none worthy of being worshipped except Allāh, and I testify that Muhammad (peace be upon him) is his servant and Messenger.

{"O you who believe! Have taqwā of Allāh as He deserves, and do not die except as Muslims."}

{"O people! Have taqwā of your Lord Who Created you from a single soul, and Created from it its mate, and sprouted from it many men and women. And have taqwā of Allāh, from Whom you demand your mutual rights, and do not cut off the relations of the womb. Verily, Allāh is Ever-Watching over you."}²

{"O you who believe! Have taqwā of Allāh, and say that which is truthful. He will rectify your actions for you and Forgive you your sins, and whoever obeys Allāh and His Messenger has indeed achieved a great success."}

Indeed, the most truthful of speech is the Speech of Allāh, and the best guidance is the guidance of Muhammad (peace be upon him). The worst of affairs are those that are newly introduced, and every newly introduced affair is an innovation, and every innovation is a misguidance, and every misguidance leads to the Fire.

As for what follows:

¹ Āl Imrān; 102

² an-Nisā'; 1

³ al-Ahzāb; 70-71

Allāh sent Muhammad (peace be upon him) with the pure, easy religion and the comprehensive, inclusive *Sharī'ah* that brings the human being to the level of perfection, and brings him to the Pleasure of Allāh, and raises his status.

And with the help of Allāh, the Prophet (peace be upon him) sought to lead his nation to Paradise, the abode of peace and security. So, he spent nearly 23 years calling to the message of Islām that Allāh had tasked him with. He faced the horrors he faced for the sake of relaying his message – the message of Islām – in order to leave his nation on the clear path.

If we look to the purpose of the message of Islām, we find that it can be summed up in the purifying and nourishing of the soul, and this takes place by knowing and worshipping Allāh, as well as strengthening the ties of brotherhood to spread justice between the slaves of Allāh. The means of doing so is by implementing the teachings of our truthful Messenger (peace be upon him), which he gathered for us in the treasures and jewels of his *Sunnah*, his deep words, and what we call Islāmic law (*Sharī'ah*, or *Fiqh*).

And the Companions (may Allāh be Pleased with them) exerted their efforts (*ijtihād*) in deriving rulings in regards to certain matters after the death of our noble Prophet (peace be upon him). Some of them were correct, and others did not arrive at the correct rulings. These attempts at *ijtihād* went on, and differing opinions were derived in the name of raising the word of truth and arriving at the highest possible level of perfection (and for Allāh is all perfection). So, the *madhāhib* were many, and the goal was one.

The result of all this was the authoring of the thousands of books and collections that now fill Islāmic libraries, the raising of the word of truth, and the empowering of the *Ummah* by its sticking to the religion of truth, Islām. Because of this, all of the powers of the world gathered against the Muslims in order to weaken them. So, the scholars of Islām rose to the occasion and defended Allāh's Religion.

From these scholars who raised the banner of truth and the honor of defending Islām was *Shaykh al-Islām* Taqī ad-Dīn Ibn Taymiyyah, with the many brave stances he took in his time, and with the countless books and *fatāmā* of his that now fill the Islāmic library. In order to better know this brave, pious *imām* known as Ibn Taymiyyah, we present to the reader this biography that was written by the pen of a scholar who saw, lived with, and befriended *Shaykh al-Islām* Ibn Taymiyyah - and he is none other than *al-Imām* al-Bazzār – and he called this book *'al-A'lām al-'Aliyyah fī Manāqib Ibn Taymiyyah*, 'and he is the most qualified to write about him.⁴

It is hoped that as opposed to the typical biography that is filled with mere facts and figures, this book will serve to provide the reader with a first-hand account of the human side of one of the greatest Islāmic personalities to have ever lived – one that can be taken as an example in formulating a lifestyle and conducting day to day affairs.

5

⁴ This introduction was taken from the first volume of *Dār al-Kutub al-Ilmiyyah*'s 1426 H (2005) edition of 'Majmū' al-Fatāwā' that was checked by Mustafā 'Abd al-Qādir 'Atā.

- Why I Wrote This Book -

When I learned of the death of the scholar and educator of this *Ummah* - the *Imām*, the *mujtahid*, the defender of the pure *Sharī'ah* and Prophetic *Sunnah*, *Shaykh al-Islām* Taqī ad-Dīn Abī al-'Abbās Ahmad bin 'Abd al-Halīm bin 'Abd as-Salām bin Taymiyyah (may Allāh sanctify his soul and brighten his grave)⁵ - some of the scholars and those who loved good for the Muslims said to me: "You saw and befriended the *Shaykh*, and you came to know him and his characteristics. If only you could write a few words regarding what you saw in order to benefit whoever of this *Ummah* comes across them, since mercy descends when we remember the righteous people."

So, I responded: "I only accompanied him for a few days, and I only know few of his many virtues." However, I saw that they intended good and that what they were requesting of me was a right and obligation upon me, as the scholar should be keen to spread and distribute what he thinks will be of value to the Muslims. So, I produced a small effort describing his virtues which will give the intelligent reader an idea of the honor and excellence of this man. I divided it into sections in order that it be a guide to those who reflect, and I included all that I could remember under each one, covering topics such as:

- His birth and upbringing
- Allāh's leading him to good in his entire life
- His keenness and effort in regards to knowledge
- His constant listening to *Hadīth*
- His numerous written works
- His amazing memory when issuing verdicts and giving lessons
- His stunning expertise in the various types of related information
- His worship and cautiousness
- His zuhd, dedication, and abandonment of the dunyā
- His poverty, humility, generosity, and intelligence
- His firmness, bravery, and patience, and the trials he endured for the Sake of Allāh
- Allāh's Protection for him despite his enemies' envy
- His death, and the immense number of people who prayed at his *janāzah*
- The love of him that Allāh placed in the hearts of everyone during and after his life
- The spreading of his knowledge and books in the far ends of the Earth

So, I say:

_

⁵ His full name is Taqī ad-Dīn Abū al-'Abbās Ahmad bin Shihāb ad-Dīn Abū al-Mahāsin 'Abd al-Halīm bin Majd ad-Dīn Abī al-Barakāt 'Abd as-Salām bin 'Abdullāh bin Abī al-Qāsim Muhammad bin al-Khidr bin 'Abdullāh bin Taymiyyah.

- His Upbringing -

As for his birth, it is as many of the scholars narrated to me: he was born in Harrān⁶ on the 10th of Rabī' al-Awwal 661 H,⁷ and remained in it until he was seven years old. Then, his father (may Allāh have Mercy on him) took him to Damascus (may Allāh protect it), and he was given the best upbringing possible there, and Allāh implanted in him the best of traits. The signs of excellence, dedication, and sharpness were clear in him from an early age.

A trustworthy friend who knew him told me that when the *Shaykh* (may Allah be Pleased with him) was still in the midst of his youth and would walk to the library, he would be stopped in his path by a Jew who lived on the road leading to the library. The Jew would ask him about various issues, and would be insistent with his questioning due to Ibn Taymiyyah's intelligence and brightness. Ibn Taymiyyah would answer him so swiftly that the Jew became fascinated with him. Eventually, whenever Ibn Taymiyyah would come across him, he would provide him with bits of information that would confirm to the man the falsehood he was upon. This went on until he accepted Islām and became a fully practicing Muslim, and this was due to the *barakah* that the *Shaykh* had despite his young age.

And since he entered his youth, he spent all of his time engrossed in effort and exertion, and he memorized the entire Qur'ān as a youth, and proceeded to study and memorize *Hadīth*, *Fiqh*, and the Arabic language until he excelled at them all. This was in addition to his strict adherence to attending the circles of knowledge and his listening to the narration of *Hadīth* and *āthār*. He heard many books from numerous scholars of high caliber. As for the great texts of Islām such as the *Musnad*' of Ahmad, the *Sahīh*'s of al-Bukhārī and Muslim, the *Jāmi*" of at-Tirmidhī, the *Sunan*' of Abū Dāwūd as-Sijistānī, an-Nasā'ī, Ibn Mājah, and ad-Dāraqutnī - he (may Allāh have Mercy on him) had each of them recited to him in their entirety numerous times. The first book that he memorized in *Hadīth* was al-Humaydī's *'al-Iam' Bayn as-Sahīhayn.'*

There was rarely a book in the sciences of Islām except that he would come across it, and Allāh had blessed him with an ability to quickly memorize and rarely forget. He would hardly come across or hear something except that it would remain in his memory, either in wording or meaning. It was as if knowledge had become infused in his flesh, blood, and entire body. He did not merely take pieces of knowledge here and there. Rather, he had complete understanding and comprehension, and was amongst the most outstanding people in virtue and excellence. Allāh tasked him with what would normally destroy anyone else, led him to joy and happiness in all aspects of his life, and made the effects of his leadership from the clearest of signs to all, to the point that everyone with a bit of intelligence agreed that he is from those that the Prophet (peace be upon him) was referring to when he said: "Indeed, Allāh sends at the beginning of every century he who will revive for this *Ummah* the affair of its religion," as Allāh has revived through him the laws of this Religion that had

⁶ A district in southeast Turkey near its border with Syria

⁷ Coincides with Monday January 22nd 1263

⁸ He studied with over 200 scholars. See 'al-Kawākib ad-Durriyyah' (p. 52)

⁹ 'Sahīh al-Jāmi'' (1874) and 'as-Silsilah as-Sahīhah' (599)

long been forgotten, and made him a proof upon all the people of his era, and praise is to Allāh, the Lord of the worlds.

- His Abundant Knowledge, Writings, and Excellent Memory -

As for his abundant knowledge, this includes his knowledge of the sciences of the Holy Qur'ān, his ability to derive the smallest and most minute benefits from it, his knowledge of the statements of the scholars in explaining it, his way of using these statements as evidence, as well as the ability Allāh gave him to expose its wonders, the beauty of His legislations, its rare and amazing gems, its linguistic miracles, and its clear grace. In all of this, he was a leader and example that everyone strove to imitate.

If someone were to recite some verses of the Mighty Qur'ān in one of his classes, he would proceed to explain them, and his class would end with this. His class would last for a good portion of the day, and he did not have a designated person to recite for him predetermined verses that he would prepare for. Rather, any random person who was attending his class would recite what was easy for him, and Ibn Taymiyyah would then explain whatever was recited. He would usually not stop except that those in attendance would know that were it not for the lack of time, he would have delved into what he was explaining from many, many more angles. However, he would stop in order to allow his listeners to rest.

For example, he delivered a *tafsīr* of { "Say: 'He is Allāh, One."} ¹⁰ that took up an entire huge volume. Also, his *tafsīr* of { "The Beneficent ascended the Throne."} ¹¹ filled around 35 volumes, and I have been told that he began compiling a *tafsīr* that would have taken up fifty volumes had he completed it.

As for his knowledge and insight into the *Sunnah* of the Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him), his statements, actions, life events, battles, armies, the miracles that Allāh granted him, his knowledge of what is authentically narrated from him as opposed to what is unauthentic, as well as the statements, actions, events, and legal verdicts of the Companions (may Allāh be Pleased with them), their struggle for the sake of this Religion, and the virtues that they were granted in exclusion to the rest of the *Ummah* – in all of this, he was the most precise and had the most expertise, and was the quickest in retrieving whatever information he needed regarding this. He would never mention a *hadīth* or *fatwā* that he would use as proof for something except that he would reference it to its proper source in the texts of Islām, or indicate if it was *sahīh* or *hasan*, etc., or mention the name of the Companion who narrated it, and he was rarely asked about a narration except that he would clarify its authenticity.

And from the most amazing things that occurred is that during his first trial in Egypt, he was taken and jailed such that he was prevented from having access to his books. During this time, he authored many books - small and large - and mentioned in them a great number of ahādāth, narrations, statements of the Companions, names of the scholars of *Hadāth*, authors, and their works, and he attributed each of these to their proper sources, specifically by name.

_

¹⁰ al-Ikhlās; 1

¹¹ *Ta Ha*; 5

He also mentioned the names of the books in which each narration was found, as well as where in the books to find them. All of this was purely from his memory, as at the time he did not have a single book with him to use as a reference. These books were then published and looked over, and - praise be to Allah - not a single mistake was found in any of them, nor did anything need to be changed in them. And from these books is 'as-Sārim al-Maslūl 'alā Shātim ar-Rasūl,' and this is from the virtue that Allāh - the Exalted - reserved especially for him. 13

And Allāh also blessed him with the ability to know the differences of opinion amongst the scholars, their statements, their *ijtihād* in various matters, and what was recorded of the strong, weak, accepted, and rejected opinions of each scholar of each era. He had deep insight into which of their opinions were the most correct and closest to the truth, and was even able to ascribe to each scholar in what location he had come to each opinion. This was to the point that if he were asked about any of this, it was as if every single saying of the Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him), his Companions, and the scholars – from the first of them to the last of them – was a projected image in his mind, with him picking what he wanted and leaving what he wanted. This is something that everyone who ever saw him or came across his knowledge and was not overtaken by ignorance or desires agreed on.

As for his books and writings, they are more than I can mention or think of all their titles. In fact, I doubt that anyone can name them all, as they are many in number, are of varying lengths, and are spread throughout the lands. In fact, I never visited a country except that I saw one of his books in it.

Some of them reached twelve volumes in length, such as 'Talkhīs at-Talbīs' 'alā Asās at-Taqdīs,' etc. Some of them are seven volumes long, such as 'al-Jam' Bayn al-'Aql wan-Naql. ¹⁴ Some of them are five volumes long, such as 'Minhāj al-Istiqāmah wal-l'tidāl.' Some of them are three volumes, such as 'ar-Radd 'alā an-Nasārā.' Some of them are two volumes, such as 'Nikāh al-Muhallal' and 'Ibtāl al-Hiyal' and 'Sharh al-'Aqīdah al-Asbahāniyyah.' Some of them are just a single volume or less, and these are too many to encompass. However, I will try my best to mention a few to satisfy the curiosity of those who wish to know: 'Tafsīr Sūrat al-Ikhlās,' his commentary on the verse { "The Beneficent ascended the Throne."}, his book 'as-Sārim al-Maslūl' 'alā Shātim ar-Rasūl,' 'al-Furqān al-Mubīn Bayn at-Talāq wal-Yamīn,' 'al-Furqān Bayn Awliyā' ar-Rahmān wa Awliyā' ash-Shaytān,' 'Iqtidā' as-Sirāt al-Mustaqīm fī Mukhālafat Ashāb al-Jahīm,' 'al-Kalim at-Tayyib,' Ithbāt al-Kamāl,' 'ar-Radd 'alā Ta'sīs at-Taqdīs,' 'al-Jam' Bayn al-'Aql wan-Naql,' 'Naqd Aqwāl al-Mubtadi'in,' 'ar-Radd 'alā an-Nasārā,' 'Minhāj al-Istiqāmah,' Ibtāl al-Hayl wa Nikāh al-Muhallal,' 'Sharh al-'Aqīdah al-Asbahāniyyah,' 'al-Fatāwā,' 'ad-Durr al-Multaqit,' 'Ahkām at-Talāq,' 'ar-Risālah,' 'Tiqād al-Firqah an-Nājiyah,' 'Raf' al-Malām 'an al-A'immah al-A'lām,' 'Taqrīr Masā'il at-Tawhīd,' 'al-Istighāthah wat-Tawassul,' 'al-Masā'il al-Hamawiyyah,' 'al-

¹² Translates as 'The Loose Sword on the Insulter of the Prophet'

¹³ The book contains over 250 *ahādīth*, 100 *āthār*, the mention of over 600 famous personalities from the history of *Ahl as-Sunnah wal-Jamā'ah*, and collected information from over forty references - all from his memory, and the entire book was written in response to one single incident in which Ibn Taymiyyah heard a Christian insulting the Prophet (peace be upon him)!

¹⁴ Commonly known as 'Dar' Ta'ārud al-'Aql wan-Naql' and 'Muwāfaqat Sahīh al-Manqūl li Sarīh al-Ma'qūl,' and it deals with the relationship between reason and Revelation

Masā'il al-Jazriyyah,' and 'al-Masā'il al-Mufradah,' and it is enough to mention these few examples of his writings. Otherwise we would have to list over 200 titles, and this isn't the time or place to do so.

As for his *fatāwā* and the answers he gave to various questions, these are more than can be counted. However, seventeen volumes of them were compiled and arranged according to *Figh* topics in Egypt, and this is a well-known and famous collection. ¹⁵ Also, his companions compiled more than 40,000 issues that he answered. It was very rare that an event would occur that he was asked about in which he would not reply in the quick and immediate style that he was famous for. ¹⁶ This answer would then be turned into a book that anyone else would require a long time sifting through many references to put together, and even then, they would still not match his expertise and efficiency in answering. ¹⁷

I was told by the righteous *Shaykh* Tāj ad-Dīn Muhammad bin ad-Dawrī that he attended one of Ibn Taymiyyah's classes in which a Jew had asked him about something related to the *Qadar*. "The Jew had presented his question in the form of a poem consisting of eight lines. So, when Ibn Taymiyyah looked at it, he thought to himself for a moment and proceeded to write a reply. He kept writing, and we thought that he would come out with a scattered, unorganized response. When he finished, his companions looked over what he'd written to find that it was a 184-line poem interspersed within the poem presented by the questioner. His knowledge was so clearly evident in this poem that if one wanted to explain just this poem, he would need to write two large volumes in doing so." This is just one example of his extraordinary abilities, and how many such answers and *fatāwā* of his remain unparalleled!

As for his classes, I never missed a single one during my stay in Damascus. He would not prepare anything specifically to present. Rather, he would sit after praying two rak'āt, would praise Allāh, invoke blessings and peace upon His Messenger (peace be upon him) in a manner so sweet and pleasant that I never heard from anyone else, and would then proceed to speak. Allāh would open up on him such knowledge, gems, hidden benefits, details, narrations, extraction of evidences from verses and ahādāth, statements of the scholars and comparison between them, as well as an ability to supplement what he was saying with old Arabic poetry (and he would sometimes even mention the name of the poem's composer). In all of this, his speech was as smooth as a flowing river, and he would move as the ocean moves. From the beginning of his speech to the end of it, he would appear to be in another world, his eyes closed. This was all done unintentionally, and he didn't try to speak in a certain way to give off this effect. Rather, it was something divine that was evident to everyone who was watching or listening, and he would remain in such a state until he was finished speaking. I saw him at such times, and he looked like one in the presence of someone preoccupying him from anything else. When he did this, he would have such an amazing presence that it would shake our hearts and grab our attention.

¹⁵ Available as *'Mukhtasar al-Fatāwā al-Misriyyah li Ibn Taymiyyah*,' compiled by Badr ad-Dīn al-Hambalī

¹⁶ His brother 'Abdullāh said: "Allāh blessed him with the ability to write quickly, and he used to write from memory without copying." See 'al-'Uqūd ad-Durriyyah' (p. 64).

¹⁷ In 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (13/341), Ibn Kathīr notes that Ibn Taymiyyah was only nineteen when he began issuing fatāwā.

And he would never mention the Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him) without invoking peace and blessings on him, and - by Allāh - I never saw anyone who revered the Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him) or was keener in imitating him and supporting what he came with than Ibn Taymiyyah. Whenever he came across a *hadīth* in a particular issue and was sure that it was not abrogated by any other text, he would act upon it and would judge and issue *fatāwā* accordingly, and would not turn to the statement of any other person, no matter who he was. He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) would say: "Every person requires proof for his statement, and his statement is not itself a proof, except Allāh and His Messenger (peace be upon him)."

When he finished his class, he would open his eyes and go mix with the people with a cheerful, vibrant face as if he was meeting them for the first time, and he would sometimes even apologize to some of them for what he saw as shortcomings in his talk. Each class he gave in those days took up many notebooks.

What I have mentioned here regarding his classes is something well-known that anyone who attended them would agree on, and such people are many - thanks to Allāh - and their number cannot be calculated: scholars, officials, recitors of the Qur'ān, *Muhaddithīn*, *Fuqahā*', poets, and everyday Muslims.¹⁸

- His Knowledge of the Various Types of Related Information -

As for his knowledge of both authentic and weak narrations, he was like a mountain in this that nobody could climb. It was very rare that a narration would be mentioned to him without him knowing who said it, who narrated it, who transmitted it, or who recorded it, in addition to knowing the condition of each narrator in light of the sciences of *jarh* and *ta'dīl*.

One person who witnessed this describes that he was one day in a class in which a *Muhaddith* was reading to him from a book of *Hadīth*. He was reading very fast, and the *Shaykh* corrected him in the name of a man in the *isnād* of a *hadīth* that the reader had sped by, mentioning that his name was such and such as opposed to what was read by the *Muhaddith*. They looked into it and found that it was exactly as the *Shaykh* said.

So, look at this swift comprehension and detailed, precise knowledge that nobody can compare to unless they are granted extreme precision!

This is clear as day when looking at the ability Allāh granted him to take the Prophetic narrations and extract concepts and proofs for various issues from them, clarify the intended meanings of their words, explain which narrations specify and restrict the general rulings,

_

¹⁸ In 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (13/283), Ibn Kathīr described the first class Ibn Taymiyyah ever taught, saying: "It was a crowded class, and the notes from this class were written down by Shaykh Tāj ad-Dīn al-Fizārī due to its many benefits and how much the attendees gained from it. The attendees thanked him immensely due to his young age, as he was only 22 at the time. Shaykh Taqī ad-Dīn then began to teach on the 10th of Safar in the Umayyid Mosque on a pulpit designed just for him to explain the Qur'ān. So, he started from the beginning, and many people would gather to hear him and what he possessed of knowledge that was beautified with piety, zuhd, and worship. He became well-known to travelers from all lands, and he continued like this for many long years."

point out which narrations are abrogated or abrogating, delve into the guidelines and principles associated with each narration, explain what each narration implies, and point out what additional knowledge one needed to understand each one – to the point that whenever a verse or *hadīth* was mentioned to him, he would proceed to bring out from it meanings and concepts that would only be expected from the most amazing of scholars due to how thoroughly he would derive them, and he would mesmerize any who happened to hear him.

He was once asked about the *hadīth*: "Allāh has cursed the one who marries a divorced woman to make her permissible for her first husband, as well as the husband who takes her back." So, he kept elaborating and explaining to the point that everything he said took up an entire volume. It was quite rare that a *hadīth* or ruling would be mentioned to him except that he'd spend his entire day explaining it if he wanted to, or that a verse from the Book of Allāh would be mentioned in his presence except that he'd spend the entire gathering explaining it.

As for his opposition to the innovators and the people of desires and what he wrote refuting their opinions, exposing their likes,²¹ dividing their ranks, cutting off their sustenance, replying to their devilish doubts and opposition to the pure *Shari'ah* of Muhammad (peace be upon him), as well as what Allāh granted him of divine insight, comprehension of the texts, and clear logic that allowed him to remove the mask of falsehood - this is as clear as day. With all that he collected and authored, he clarified the truth from falsehood, to the point that if the followers of this falsehood were alive, they would have no choice but to submit to his words and enter correctly into the Sacred Religion.

Everyone who met him or comes to know of what he had to offer should thank Allāh for leading this *Imām* to aiding and supporting the truth in such clear and easily understandable manner.

Many famous and virtuous scholars who are known for their expertise in the opinions of the philosophers said that they would be confused between the various opinions of the scholars of *Usūl*, and that they would not be convinced of one opinion in exclusion to the others, as none of the opinions would seem to contain even a bit of truth. Rather, they would see all of them as being an equal source of confusion and misguidance, and as being too complicated in the proofs and reasoning behind them, and they each feared for themselves from falling into confusion and misguidance because of these opinions. This was all until Allāh blessed them with the discovery of the books of this *Imām*, Ahmad bin Taymiyyah, *Shaykh al-Islām*,

¹⁹ Reported by Ahmad (1/448), at-Tirmidhī (1119 & 1120), and Ibn Mājah (1934, 1935, and 1936), and al-Albānī declared it authentic in 'Sahīh al-Jāmi'' (5101), 'Irwā' al-Ghalīl' (6/308, 309, and 310), and his checking of 'Mishkāt al-Masābīh' (3296)

²⁰ Available as the book 'Iqāmat ad-Dalīl 'alā Butlān at-Tahlīl'

²¹ Such as the many stances he took against the Sufis. He refuted them and exposed their practices such as entering into fire and emerging unharmed and claiming that this was an indication of their miraculous nature. He explained that even if they did this or flew in the air, it would not be evidence that could be used to declare their violations of the *Shari'ah* to be correct. Furthermore, he challenged them by proposing to also enter into the fire with them on the condition that they first wash themselves with vinegar and hot water. Ultimately, they were exposed and defeated, and they agreed to a complete adherence to the Qur'ān and *Sunnah*. See 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (14/36) and 'Majmū' al-Fatāwa' (11/456-457).

and the logical arguments he presented therein. So, all it took was for them to come across his writings and understand them to see that they were in complete agreement with what sound logic would dictate, and this led to the confusion and doubt that had enveloped these scholars from the words of the philosophers completely disappearing.

Whoever wants to verify what I'm saying, let him look without bias, envy, or misguidance to his brief writings in these subjects, such as 'Sharh al-'Aqīdah al-Ashahāniyyah,' etc. If one wishes to also look at his lengthier books, let him read 'Talkhīs at-Talbīs 'alā Asās at-Taqdīs,' 'al-Muwāfaqah Bayn al-'Aql wan-Naql,' or 'Minhāj al-Istiqāmah wal-I'tidāl,' as - by Allāh - he shines through in these books with the way he clarifies the truth, clings firmly to the clearest of proofs, and weighs his words with the most truthful scale.

He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) wrote a lot about the principles of Islām as opposed to the branches of it. I asked him about this, and requested that he write a *Figh* book compiling all of his chosen and preferred opinions to be a main reference for issuing verdicts. So, he said:

"The branches of the Religion are easy to understand, and it is allowed for whoever follows one of the scholars to simply act on his *fatwā* as long as there is nothing to make him believe the *fatwā* to be incorrect. As for the principles, I see the people of innovation and misguidance - the philosophers, the *Bātinī*s, ²² the heretics, those who believe that Allāh is everywhere, the *Dahrī*s, ²³ the *Qadarī*s, ²⁴ the *Nusayrī*s, ²⁵ the *Jahmī*s, ²⁶ the deniers of Allāh's

²² A group that emerged in the 3rd century during the era of al-Ma'mūn. They believed that the Qur'ān was merely a commentary from the Prophet (peace be upon him), that it has hidden meanings that are known only to a few, and that homosexuality and incest are permissible. Those who inherited their beliefs include the *Qarāmitah* and *Ismā'iliyyah* in earlier times, and the *Qādiyānī*s and *Bahā'ī*s in later times. They caused great harm to the Muslims until they were wiped out by the 'Abbāsid leader al-Muktafī in 300 H. See 'al-Farq Bayn al-Firaq' (p. 382).

²³ A group who believe that there is no afterlife, and that the cycle of existence repeats every 36,000 years, and they say that nothing can destroy them except time (*ad-dahr*). See Ibn Kathīr's '*Tafsīr al-Qur'ān al-'Adhīm*' (4/190).

²⁴ The ones who claim that the slave creates his own actions, and that Allāh has no control over the Creation. The first who called to this was Ma'bad al-Juhanī, and it was also said that it was Ghaylān ad-Dimashqī or Sawsan an-Nasrānī. This innovation first emerged in the later part of the first century, and some of the *Qadarī*s denied Allāh's Knowledge of events before their occurrence. However, they have died out, as an-Nawawī said. See al-Lālikā'ī's 'Sharh Usūl al-I'tiqād' (1/23 and 3/534 onwards) and 'Sharh Sahīh Muslim' (1/153-154).

²⁵ The followers of Muhammad bin Nusayr al-Basrī, a slave of Banī Numayr who was originally from Persia. The sect was founded in the third century. They prefer to be called 'Alanī's, attributing themselves to 'Alī bin Abī Tālib. This name was given to them by the French during the time of their colonial occupation of Syria in 1920 to hide the sect from the other Muslims who declared them disbelievers. They believe that 'Alī was the incarnation of Allāh, that the Islāmic texts have a hidden meaning, and in reincarnation. They were declared to be disbelievers by Ibn Taymiyyah in 'Majmū' al-Fatāwā' (35/149), Ibn al-Qayyim in 'Ighāthat al-Lahfān' (2/247-249), Ibn Hazm in 'al-Muhallā' (13/139), ad-Daylamī in 'Bayān Madhhab al-Bātiniyyah wa Butlālanuh' (p. 71), and al-Ghazzālī in 'Fadā'ih al-Bātiniyyah' (p. 37).

²⁶ The followers of Jahm bin Safwān Abī Muhriz as-Samarqandī at-Tirmidhī, who was killed 128 H. He took his innovated beliefs of denying Allāh's Attributes from al-Ja'd bin Dirham and added to it the belief that Allāh

Names and Attributes, those who say He has a physical body, the *Mushabbihah*,²⁷ the *Rāwindī*s,²⁸ the *Kullābī*s,²⁹ the *Sulaymī*s, and other innovated groups - creating a crisis with their misguidance, and it is clear to me that their intent in this is to destroy the holy *Shari'ah* of Muhammad which dominates over all religions, and that most of them dragged the people into doubts regarding the principles of the Religion. Because of this, I rarely see someone turning away from the Qur'ān and *Sunnah* and going for their opinions except that he becomes a heretic, and falls into doubt of his own religion and beliefs.

When I saw all of this, it became clear to me that whoever is able to repel their doubts and fabrications is to focus all of his efforts in exposing them and responding to their false beliefs in defense of the pure Religion and lofty, authentic *Sunnah*, and I never saw anyone write regarding this subject who claimed himself to be knowledgeable except that he actually helped demolish the foundations of Islām with his words. This is because of their aversion to the clear truth, their turning away from what the noble Messengers brought from the Lord of the worlds, and their following the path of the philosophers in using their terminology and referring to them as 'wisdoms and logic,' while they are in reality 'stupidity and misguidance.' They stick with this and turn away from everything else until it completely takes over their intellects, and it confuses them until they are no longer able to distinguish between truth and falsehood. Allāh is too generous with His slaves to not provide them with minds that accept the truth and reject falsehood. However, lack of guidance and abundance of desires cause one to fall into misguidance.

Allāh – the Exalted – made the intellect to be a scale for the slave to filter out falsehood from truth, and He did not send the Messengers except to those with intellect, and none are tasked with any obligations except those with intellect and logic, such that he stops and says: 'This contradicts what the noble Messengers conveyed from Allāh. This is falsehood that anyone with intellect sees,' and whoever is not granted light from Allāh will have no light.

So, this is why I focused all of my attention to writing about the principles of the Religion, and this is what caused me to collect all of their statements and reply to them with what Allāh has blessed me of textual and logical arguments."

compels the slaves in their actions, that faith is simply knowledge, and that Paradise and Hell are not eternal. They are further divided into eight sects. See 'Sharh Usūl al-l'tiqād' (1/30-31).

²⁷ Those who go to extremes in confirming Allāh's Attributes, to the point that they liken Him to His Creation, and they are from the extreme *Shī'ah*. Those who were famous for this were Dāwūd al-Jawārbī and Hishām bin al-Hakam the *Rāfidī*. Some of the innovators accuse *Ahl as-Sunnah* of being *Mushabhahah*, and they are free from this. See ash-Shahrastānī's 'al-Milal wan-Nihal' (1/103 onwards) and al-Ash'arī's 'Maqālāt al-Islāmiyyīn' (p. 221, 491, 518, 521, and 564).

²⁸ The followers of al-Qāsim bin Rāwand. They believe that the Prophet (peace be upon him) had appointed al-'Abbās bin 'Abd al-Muttalib as his successor, and that the Muslims all apostated from Islām by preventing al-'Abbās from becoming the leader. They further believe that the right of leadership belongs only to those descended from al-'Abbās, and that the *Mahdī* will be from his family.

²⁹ They were the followers of 'Abdullāh bin Sa'īd bin Kullāb al-Qattān al-Misrī, one of the philosophers who lived during the time of al-Ma'mūn, and died in 240 H. He would affirm for Allāh the seven Attributes of Knowledge, Power, Will, Life, Hearing, Sight, and Speech based on logic, and would deny the rest. One of his followers was Abū al-Hasan al-Ash'arī, who later abandoned these beliefs for those of Ahmad bin Hambal, while the current day Ash'arīs resemble the Kullābīs of old. See 'Lisān al-Mīzān' (3/290).

I say that in everything he has written, he clarified the truth from falsehood, and Allāh helped him to respond to their innovations, misguided opinions, deceptions, and desires with textual proofs and in a logical manner. He did this to the point that he answered each and every doubt of theirs with such clarity that anyone with a sound mind would understand and agree to his correctness. So, praise be to Allāh who blessed us with the chance to see and befriend him, as Allāh has made him a proof upon the people of his era, most of whom were busy with the worldly pleasures in exclusion to the matters of the Hereafter, and there is no might nor power except with Allāh. However, Allāh - the Mighty and Powerful - guaranteed the preservation of this Religion until the end of time, and made it dominate over all other religions. So, praise be to Allāh, the Lord of the worlds.

- His Worship -

As for his worship, he (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was unlike anyone else, as he would spend all of his time engrossed in it. He would not let anything - family or wealth - distract him from Allāh.

During the nights, he would separate himself from everybody, secluding himself with his Lord, strictly maintaining his recitation of the Mighty Qur'ān, and repeating the various types of daily and nightly worship.

When the night was over, he would rejoin the people for the Fajr prayer, praying the optional prayer before meeting them. When he would begin the prayer, your heart would want to fly from its place just from the way in which he would make the opening takbūr. When he would begin the prayer, his limbs would shake, moving him left and right. When he would recite, he would elongate his recitation just as was authentically reported regarding the recitation of the Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him). His bowing, prostration, and his coming up from them were from the most complete of what has ever been reported in regards to the obligatory prayer. He would severely lighten his sitting for the first tashahhud, and would say the first tashām out loud to the point that everyone who was present would hear it.

When he finished his prayer, he and whoever was present would praise Allāh with what was narrated: 'Oh Allāh, You are Peace, and You are the Source of Peace. You are Blessed, O Possessor of Glory and Honor,' and he would then turn to the congregation, repeat the narrated tahlāl, ³⁰ as well as the 33 tasbīh, ³¹ tahmīd, ³² and takbīr, ³³ and complete the hundred with a tahlāl as was narrated, and the congregation would do exactly as he did. He would then supplicate to Allāh for himself and the Muslims with the various narrated supplications, and he would most often supplicate with: 'O Allāh! Aide us and do not aide anyone over us. Plan for us and not against us. Guide us and make guidance easy for us. O Allāh! Make us thankful to You, depending on and

15

³⁰ Saying 'Lā ilāha illā Allāh'

³¹ Saying 'Subhān Allāh'

³² Saying 'al-Hamdu lil-Lāh'

³³ Saying 'Allāhu Akbar'

remembering You, submissive to You, loving You, fearing You, and obedient to You. Our Lord! Accept our repentance, wash away our sins, and keep our words firm. Guide our hearts, and remove all malice from our chests,' and he would open and close this supplication by praying for the Prophet (peace be upon him), and he would then proceed to engage in dhikr.

And I came to know that it was his habit that nobody would speak to him unless absolutely necessary after the *Fajr* prayer. He would remain in a state of *dhikr* of Allāh, listening to himself. Sometimes, he would let those sitting next to him listen to his *dhikr*, all the while constantly turning his eyesight to the sky. He would remain in such a state until the Sun rose and the time in which prayer is forbidden had passed.

During my stay in Damascus, I would spend some of the day and most of the night with him. He would draw me near to him, sitting me beside him. I would hear what he would recite and repeat, and I saw that he would repeat 'al-Fātihah' over and over again, and would spend all of his time between Fajr and sunrise doing this. So, I kept thinking to myself, wondering why he would recite this specific chapter of the Qur'ān in exclusion to the others. Eventually, it became clear to me - and Allāh Knows best - that his intention in doing so was to combine with his recitation between what was narrated in the ahādāth and what was discussed by the scholars in regards to whether the narrated adhkār should take precedence over recitation of the Qur'ān or vice versa. So, he saw that in repeating 'al-Fātihah,' he could combine between both opinions and reap the benefits of both actions, and this was from his strength in logic and depth of insight.

After this, he would pray *Duhā*, and if he wanted to hear *Hadīth* in another place, he would rush to that place with whoever happened to be with him at the time.

It was rare that any intelligent person would see him and not come and kiss his hands. Even the busiest of businessmen would walk from what they were doing to greet him and seek his blessings.³⁴ With all of this, he would give everyone of them their share of attention, greetings, etc.

If he saw any evil in the street, he would work to remove it,³⁵ and if he heard of a funeral taking place, he would rush to pray in it or apologize for missing it. Sometimes, he would go to the grave of the deceased after he finished listening to *Hadīth* and pray over it.

Afterwards, he would return to his mosque, where he would remain either giving *fatāwā* to the people or fulfilling their needs until it was time to pray *Dhuhr* in congregation. He would spend the rest of the day in such a manner.

His classes were open to the general public: for the old, the young, the wealthy, the poor, the free, the slave, males, and females. He attracted everyone that would pass by him, and every

_

³⁴ This was in the sense that they would seek the blessings of his good company and knowledge, not that he was inherently a source of blessings.

³⁵ He and a number of his companions once went out to disrupt some taverns. They broke their utensils, spilt their wine, and admonished a number of those drinking. Also, he once destroyed a pillar at a mosque in Damascus that people used to seek blessing from. See 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (13/34 and 14/122-123).

one of them would feel that Ibn Taymiyyah was treating them better than he was treating anyone else present.

He would then pray Maghrib and follow it up with as much optional prayer as Allāh made possible. I or someone else would then read his writings to him, and he would benefit us with various points and notes. We would do this until we prayed *Ishā*', after which we would continue as we were before, delving into the various fields of knowledge. We would do this until much of the night had passed. During this entire time - night and day - Ibn Taymiyyah would constantly remember Allāh, mention His Oneness, and seek His Forgiveness.

And he would constantly raise his eyesight to the sky and would not stop doing this, as if he saw something there that kept his eyesight hooked. He would do this for as long as I was staying with him.

So, subhān Allāh! How short were these days! If only they were longer! By Allāh, until this day, there has never been a time in my life that was more beloved to me than the time I spent with him, and I was never seen in a better state than I was at that time, and this was for no other reason than the barakah of the Shaykh, may Allah be Pleased with him.

Every week, he would visit the sick, especially those at the hospital, and I have been informed by more than one person whose trustworthiness I do not doubt that the entire life of the Shaykh was spent in the way that I witnessed and described above. So, what worship, and what *jihād*, is better than this?

- His Cautiousness -

He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was an example of the peak of cautiousness, as Allāh caused him to spend his entire life in a state of cautiousness. He never mixed with the people for the purpose of buying, selling, transaction, business, partnership, agriculture, or ownership, nor was he made to watch over any wealth, nor did he ever accept a gift or offer from a ruler, governor, or businessman, nor did he save up any money of his own. Rather, the only thing he produced during his life, and the only thing he left to be inherited after his death, was knowledge. He did this in imitation of the leader of the Messengers and the seal of the Prophets, Muhammad (peace be upon him, his Household, and Companions), who said: "Indeed, the scholars are the inheritors of the Prophets, and the Prophets did not leave behind a dīnār or dirham to be inherited. Rather, they left behind knowledge to be inherited, and whoever takes from it has acquired a great fortune."³⁶ And he used to encourage the intelligent people around him - in the most pleasant and concise manner - to choose their path and follow in their footsteps, even if taking an easier path was technically permissible. However, the smart one is he who is driven to achieve the best.

So, look to how Allāh led this *Imām* to avoid all except what he needed in life. He was overtaken by his love for Allāh, and as a result was granted all virtue and excellence as

³⁶ Part of a longer *hadith* reported by Abū Dāwūd (3641 & 3642), at-Tirmidhī (2682), Ibn Mājah (223), and Ibn Hibbān (88), and al-Albānī declared it authentic in 'Sahīh at-Targhīh wat-Tarhīb (70)

opposed to the scholars of the *dunyā* who choose it, seek it, and chase after it. When they chose its delights, they closed themselves off from the path of guidance, and as a result fell into its opposite. They go about in a state of confusion, just like the one walking around in the darkness, not knowing what they are eating or wearing. They do not even know what they hope to achieve from their evil and humiliating aims. They compete for them, envy each other because of them, fill their bodies with them, and push everything else out of their hearts. They tend excessively to their outer appearances while their hearts are blackened and corrupted. They are never satisfied until they become enemies to those who reject and hate such a lifestyle.

When they saw this *Imām* as a scholar of the Hereafter - abandoning their habits of gathering the goods of this world, avoiding the doubtful, and rejecting the unnecessary permissible things - they came to see that his mannerisms exposed and embarrassed them. So, they became extremely jealous that he displayed such spiritual characteristics while they had nothing but devilish ones, and they conspired to ruin him wherever they could, forgetting that they were foxes while he was a lion. So, Allāh protected him from them in more than one instance, just as He always does with His beloved servants. He protected him for the duration of his life, and spread his knowledge after his death to the ends of the Earth.

- His Zuhd -

As for his *zuhd* from the world and its delights, Allāh made this a constant theme in his life from the time of his youth. A trustworthy friend narrated to me that his teacher who taught Ibn Taymiyyah the Qur'ān said:

"His father said to me while he was still a young boy: "I would like for you to promise him that if he doesn't stop reciting and practicing Qur'ān, I will give him forty *dirhams* every month." So, he gave me the forty *dirhams*, and told me: "Give them to him. He is young, and he might become happy and increase in his zeal to memorize and learn the Qur'ān, and tell him that he will have the same every month." So, Ibn Taymiyyah refused to accept it, saying: "O teacher, I promised Allāh that I would not take any payment for the Qur'ān," and he never accepted them. I thought to myself that this would never occur except from a youth who is preserved by Allāh."

This teacher has spoken the truth, as the protection and attention of Allāh is what brought him all the good in his life from beginning to end. Everyone who ever met him - especially those who accompanied him for extended periods of time - agrees that they never saw anyone equal to him in his *zuhd* of the *dunyā*, to the point that he became famous for this, and this became known in the heart of everyone who heard of his characteristics, far and near. In fact, if you were to ask an everyday person living here who wasn't too close to the *Shaykh*: 'Who was the person who displayed the most *zuhd* of our times, and was the strongest in rejecting the unnecessary things of this *dunyā*, and the keenest of them in seeking the Hereafter?' he would say: 'I never heard of anyone like Ibn Taymiyyah (may Allāh have Mercy on him)!'

He did not become famous for this except because of his dedication in doing so. How many scholars have we seen who are as satisfied with what little portion of the *dunyā* they have like

he was? He was never heard asking for a beautiful wife, or an enchanting slave girl, or a well-built house, or obedient slaves, or plush gardens, or a strong riding beast, or soft and elegant clothing, or a position of leadership, nor did he ever hold back a dīnār or dirham, nor was he ever seen striving to obtain something permissible and unnecessary. This was all despite the fact that kings, governors, and well-known businessmen were all under his command, submissive to his words, willing to come close to him as much as they were able, openly praising of him, and each ready to take care of his financial needs.

So, where is he in comparison to some who ascribe themselves to knowledge while they are not from its people - those who were fooled by Satan into submitting to him in word and deed? Do you not see that they looked to their characteristics and his, their virtues and his, their envy in competing over the *dunyā* and his complete disregard for them, their rush to gather as much as they could of it and his rush to escape from it, their servitude to the rulers and constant presence at their doors compared to the rulers' submission to him, his lack of intimidation by their authority and power, the ease with which he would speak the truth to them, and the force with which he would address them? Indeed, by Allāh! However, they shaved themselves - of their religion, not their hair, and the love of the *dunyā* overtook their dreams, and they were robbed - of their intellect, not their possessions, to the point that they would turn away from those who came to ask it of them, and would only befriend those who would help them get more of it.

- His Poverty and Humility -

With his extreme abandonment and rejection of the *dunyā* and his possession only of the small amount that he happened to come across of it, he (may Allāh be Pleased with him) would never belittle the smallest things or be distracted by the most valuable things to give it away in charity. He would always give charity to the point that if he could find nothing to give, he would take off a portion of what he was wearing to give it to the poor. He would sometimes take one or two loaves of bread from the already meager provision he had and hide them under his sleeve, and when we went out with him to listen to *Hadīth*, he would rush to give them to some poor person when he thought we weren't watching. At other times, if a poor person came to him and stood with him for some time, he would sit him down and give him most of his food.

I was told by the righteous *Shaykh* Zayn ad-Dīn 'Alī al-Wāsitī, who stayed with the *Shaykh* for a long time: "We would usually get our food at the beginning of the day, and it would consist of a piece of bread that weighed about half an Iraqi *ratl.*³⁷ So, he would break a piece off with his hand, and we would eat from it together. He would raise his hands from the bread before me, and would not remove the rest of the piece from in front of me until I was full. I would not need any food until nighttime, and I saw that this was from the *barakah* of the *Shaykh*. We would then stay until the last part of the night after he finished all of his daily tasks of helping the people, and we would then be given supper. He would eat a few pieces with me, and leave me to finish the rest. I would ask him to eat more and he would refuse, to the point that I would be pained due to how little he would eat.

³⁷ A *ratl* is a measuring unit that equals roughly one pound.

This was our routine for the majority of the time I stayed with him, and I never saw myself more fulfilled and content than I was at that time, and I also never lived in more poverty than I did at that time."

And many people describe the concern for the poor and needy that he was famous for, as well as for the needy scholars, and his efforts in helping them out. In fact, he would lend a helping hand to every type of person he was able to do some good for.

As for his humility, I never saw or heard of anyone in his time to equal him in this. He was humble with the old and the young, the respected and the belittled, the pious rich and the poor. He would honor the pious poor and treat them in a respectable, simple way, and would speak to them with sweeter words than would be used with the rich. He would even serve them with his own hands, carrying their belongings in order to get closer to his Lord.

He would never appear tired in front of anyone who came to ask him a question. Rather, he would greet the questioner with a pleasant face and stand with him until he was the one who proceeded to leave - whether such a person was old or young, a man or a woman, a free man or a slave, a scholar or a layman, a city resident or a bedouin. He would not embarrass them, make them uncomfortable, or rush them. Rather, he would answer them, make sure they understood his answer, and clarify what was correct from what was incorrect, all with softness and simplicity.

He was humble with people whether they were present or absent, whether he was standing or sitting, and whether he was walking in the street or sitting in a gathering.

He was excessively generous and humble with me during my stay with him, to the point that he would not even address me by my first name! He would instead give me the best of nicknames. He would especially be generous and treat me with great respect in front of my own companions, such that he would never let me sit except at his side, whether the gathering was lengthy or short, public or private.

He would always be by my side during my reading of 'Sahāh al-Bukhānī,' despite the fact that I had intended to have it read privately due to how little I thought of myself to read it in front of the people, and because I wanted to take advantage of the free time out of fear that the teacher who was reading it with me would have to leave, since he was one of the few narrators of 'Sahāh al-Bukhānī' who had heard it from the companions of Abī al-Waqt as-Sajzī. So, when the Shaykh heard of this, he made me read it in front of a large group of people - men, women, and children - and said: "This should never be done except in a way that will benefit the Muslims," and he spent all of his time with me, such that I achieved what I wanted and more in only twenty sessions. We met everyday except Friday, and he would be with me every step of the way, attending the sessions with his own copy in hand

³⁸ He was Abī al-Waqt 'Abd al-Awwal bin 'Īsā bin Shu'ayb as-Sajzī as-Sūfī. He was one of the frequent narrators of *Hadūth*, his *isnād* was strong, his life was long, and he met the old and the young. He died in Baghdād in 552 H. See 'Shadharāt adh-Dhahab' (4/166), 'al-Kunā wal-Alqāb' (1/65), and Ibn Nuqtah's 'at-Taqyūd' (2/163).

that was from the original manuscript of *al-Hāfidh* Ibn Nāsir and using it to keep my teacher in check, as the *Shaykh*'s copy was more accurate.

His beautiful manners were further manifestation of his intense humility, such that when we would leave his house to read, he would carry our books himself and would not let anyone else carry them, and I would apologize to him for this out of fear of appearing to have bad manners. He would then say: "If I were to carry it on my head, my head would not be deserving of carrying something that contained the words of the Messenger (peace be upon him)!"

When I would read to the class, he would sit under the chair, avoiding the center of the gathering. This would cause me to be extremely shy from sitting with him, and I would be amazed at his intense humility and excess in honoring me in a way I did not deserve, and how he would elevate me in front of everyone. Were it not for the fact that I was reading the words of the Messenger (peace be upon him), and considering their sacredness and honor, there would have been no reason for him to act this way.

This level of humility and generosity was his habit with all who came into contact with him or befriended him, such that everyone who met him later described his excess humility just like I have and more. So, Glorified is the One who gave him this, and may He reward him for all the good he has done.

- His Physical Appearance³⁹ and Dress -

He was moderate in his appearance and dress. He would not wear extravagant clothes that attracted attention or made him look special. Rather, his clothing and appearance were just like that of the general people, and he did not wear one particular type of clothing in exclusion to another. He would wear whatever was available, and he would eat whatever was made available to him, and the *badhādhah* (plain appearance) of faith was evident on him. He was never seen showing off with his turban, his clothing, his manner of walking, or how he stood and sat, and he never dressed up for anyone who he was meeting or was visiting him from another land.

And what amazed me was that I had a dream long before I ever met him in which he and I were sitting and eating some food in a certain manner. When we finally met, I saw him eating that same food in the exact manner that I had seen in the dream. He sat me down, and we likewise ate together just as I saw in the dream!

³⁹ In 'Siyar A'lām an-Nubalā'' (17/504), adh-Dhahabī said: "His skin was white, his hair and beard were dark and black, and he had a light moustache. His hair extended down to the bottom of his ears, and his eyes looked like two talking tongues. He was of medium height, and he had wide shoulders. He had a strong voice, an eloquent tongue, and would read first in a quick and harsh manner, and end with a soft and elegant tone."

⁴⁰ The Messenger of Allāh (peace be upon him) said: "*Badhādhah* (plain appearance) is from faith," as reported by Ibn Mājah (4118) and Abū Dāwūd (4161), and al-Albānī declared it authentic in 'as-Silsilah as-Sahīhah' (341).

And many people told me that he was never seen or heard asking for food - dinner or supper - no matter how long he remained busy with some matter related to knowledge and deed. Rather, he would sometimes be given food that he would leave for a long time before even turning to it, and if he ate from it, would only eat small bits. He would never mention the delights of this world, and would never speak or ask about them. Rather, all of his concern and conversation was in seeking the Hereafter and what could bring him closer to Allāh, the Exalted.

This is exactly how he was in how he dressed. He was never heard asking for a particular type of clothing. Rather, his family would bring him some clothes whenever they knew that he needed to change the clothes he was wearing. He would maybe even keep one set of clothes on for so long that they became dirty, and he would not ask anyone to wash them for him, and it was his family who would ask if he needed them washed. His brother - who was the one looking after his worldly interests - told me: "This was how he was in his food, drink, clothing, and whatever else he needed from the worldly matters."

And I never saw anyone who respected and revered the *Shaykh* more than this brother of his. He would sit in his presence as if there was a bird on his head,⁴¹ and he would respect him as one would respect a ruler. We were amazed at this, and said to him: "Usually, a man's family does not treat him in the same way that a stranger would. They usually treat him in a less formal way, and we see you with the *Shaykh* as if you are his student with all the respect and honor in which you deal with him." So, he would say: "I see things from him that nobody else sees, and it is therefore a must that I treat him as you see." When we asked him what it was he would see, he would refuse to answer due to how much he knew the *Shaykh* would hate that.

- His Miracles⁴² and Incredible Foresight -

Many trustworthy individuals narrated to me various miracles that they witnessed from him, and I will mention some of them here, beginning with two that I personally witnessed.

There was once an argument between some of the noble scholars and myself in some issues that we were debating at length over. So, we decided to stop our discussion and go to the *Shaykh* to give us the decisive word. We found that the *Shaykh* himself had come to us, and

_

⁴¹ Abū Bakr bin al-Ambārī said: "There are two explanations as to the term 'sitting as if there were birds on their heads': the first is that they sat extremely still, and would lower their gaze, and birds do not land except on what is still. It is said to the man who is soft and gentle that the birds could land on his head from his calmness. As for the second meaning, it is in regards to how Sulaymān bin Dāwūd (peace be upon them) would say to the wind: "Carry us," and would say to the birds: "Shade us." So, the wind would carry him and his companions, and the birds would shade them. His companions would lower their gaze out of respect and awe of him, and would remain completely still, and would not say a word unless he asked them a question. So, it is said to people if they are still that they are scholars who sit as if they have birds on their heads, likening them to the companions of Sulaymān (peace be upon him)." See 'al-Jāmi' li Akhlāq ar-Rāwī wa Ādāb as-Sāmi" (1/192).

⁴² The occurrence of miracles (*karāmāt*) to the *awliyā* is a reality that is agreed upon between the scholars of *Ahl as-Sunnah*, and is proven in the Qur'ān and authentic *Sunnah*. For example, the Qur'ān contains the story of the People of the Cave, while the *Sunnah* contains stories of the Angels greeting 'Imrān bin Husayn, to name a few. For many more examples, see Ibn Taymiyyah's 'al-Furqān Bayn Awliyā' ar-Rahmān wa Awliyā' ash-Shaytān.'

when we were going to ask him about what we were discussing, he delved into each issue before we could even speak. He laid out each of our positions regarding what we were discussing, mentioned the opinions of the scholars on them, and then clarified which opinions were most supported by the evidence, until he got to the final issue we wanted to ask him about and told us what we ourselves were hoping to learn from asking him. So, my companions and I were speechless and shocked at what he had just learned from him, as well as what Allāh had made him privy to regarding what we had been thinking of.

And during the days I spent with him, if I wanted to research a particular issue, I would barely have just thought of it only to find him proceeding to explaining it to me, and providing an answer from numerous angles.

The righteous, knowledgeable *Shaykh* Ahmad bin al-Harīmī told me that he once traveled to Damascus. He said: "So, it happened that when I arrived, I had no provision or money with me, and I knew nobody in the city. So, I began to walk through its streets like a lost person. Suddenly, I saw the *Shaykh* walking swiftly towards me. He greeted me, smiled in my face, put in my hand a small pouch filled with some *dirhams*, and said to me: "Spend these now and stop worrying about what you are thinking about, as Allāh will never abandon you." He then walked away as if he had only come to say this to me. So, I supplicated for him, and I was very happy with this. I then asked some of the people: "Who is this man?" They said: "You don't know him?! He is Ibn Taymiyyah! It has been a very long time since we've seen him walk this road."

The best part of my visit to Damascus was this instance where I met him, as Allāh was the One who caused us to cross paths. I did not need anyone else for anything during the remainder of my stay in Damascus, as Allāh had provided for me from where I did not expect. Later on, I decided to visit him again, and he would honor me and ask how I was doing, and I would praise Allāh in response to him."

And I was told by *Shaykh* Taqī ad-Dīn 'Abdullāh bin Ahmad bin Sa'īd: "I traveled to Egypt when the *Shaykh* was living there, and I became very sick the night I arrived. So, I spent the night in some region of the country, and was shocked to suddenly hear someone calling me by my name and nickname. So, I answered him in a weak voice, and I sat up to see a group of the *Shaykh*'s companions entering upon me, some of whom I had met previously in Damascus. I said: "How did you know I was coming to Egypt when I have just arrived?" They said: "The *Shaykh* informed us that you were coming and that you are sick, and he told us to hurry to move you somewhere more comfortable, and we saw nobody else arriving or telling us anything." So, I know that this was from the miracles of the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him).

He also told me: "I became extremely sick in Damascus, such that I could not even sit up. I suddenly felt the *Shaykh* sitting next to my head, and I was very weak with fever and sickness. He supplicated for me and said: "You are now relieved." As soon as he left me, I was immediately relieved of all the pain and sickness I had been experiencing."

He also said: "I had come across some poetry written by one who had strayed from the truth that attacked the *Shaykh*. The reason he had written this poem was that someone had ascribed to him poetry and words that indicated he was a *Rāfīdī*, and took these words to a

judge, and it was decided to publicize his condition to the people. The man falsely thought that it was the *Shaykh* who had written these words and taken them to the judge, and this is why he wrote this poetry attacking the *Shaykh*.

So, I kept this poem with me, and I would sometimes recite some of it. I came across many things in it that didn't sit well, and I was constantly afraid and anxious because of what I was reading, and were it not for Allāh's blessing on me, I would have been overtaken by it. I asked myself why I was so affected by this poem, and I could find nothing more than that I liked some of its words. So, I promised Allāh that I would not waste anymore time reading it, and I became a bit relieved and relaxed. However, I still had the poem. So, I took it and burned it up and washed away the ashes so that nothing would be left of it. I asked Allāh's Forgiveness, and suddenly was completely relieved of all the anxiety I had been feeling when reading the poem, and Allāh replaced it with relaxation. I have since been in a state of good and relaxation, and I see that this was one of the miracles of the *Shaykh* granted to him by Allāh."

He also said to me that *Shaykh* Ibn 'Imād ad-Dīn al-Muqri' al-Mutriz said: "I visited the *Shaykh* once when I had some money with me. I greeted him, and he replied and welcomed me, and then left me without asking if I had any money with me. After a few days, I had spent all of my money. When the class was over and we had prayed behind him, he wouldn't let me leave. He sat me down, and after everyone had left, he put a small pouch of money in my hand, saying: "Now, you have no money. Support yourself with this." I was amazed at this, and knew that Allāh had somehow made him privy to my situation - both when I had some money and when I had run out of it."

I was also informed by a trustworthy individual: "When the Mongol invasion was approaching Damascus, its people became extremely afraid, and some of them came to him and asked him to supplicate for the Muslims. So, he turned to Allāh and then said: "Rejoice, for Allāh will grant you victory in three days, to the point that you will see their heads piled on top of each other." By the One in Whose Hand my soul is, as soon as three days had passed, we saw their heads piled on top of each other in the center of Damascus, just as he said."

And I was told by the righteous *Shaykh* 'Uthmān bin Ahmad bin 'Īsā an-Nassākh (may Allāh be Pleased with him) that he would visit the sick in the hospital in Damascus every week, and this was a constant habit of his. He once came to a young man and supplicated for him, and he was quickly cured. He came to the *Shaykh* wanting to greet him, and when he saw him, he smiled to him, pulled him close, gave him some money, and said: "Allāh has healed you. So, promise Him that you will quickly return to your homeland. Is it right for you to abandon your wife and four daughters without a provider while you sit here?" The man kissed his hand and said: "Sir, I repent to Allāh on your hand," and he later said: "I was amazed at what he knew about me, as I did leave them without any provision, and nobody in Damascus had known of my situation."

And I was told by someone I trust that some judges were on their way to Egypt to assume positions there, and that one of them said: "As soon as I arrive in Egypt, I will rule that such and such of the noble scholars should be killed." Everyone had agreed that this scholar was righteous and pious. However, this man's heart contained such hatred and enmity to him

that it drove him to want him dead. Everyone who heard him say this became worried that he would actually carry out his threat to kill this righteous man, and they were afraid that this man who wanted to be a judge would be led by Satan and by his own desires, causing him to spill sacred Muslim blood - they feared the great evil that would result from such an action.

So, they went to Ibn Taymiyyah and told him of exactly what had taken place. He said: "Allāh will not allow him to carry out what he wants, and he will not even get to Egypt alive." The judge had a very short distance to travel until he would arrive in Egypt when he was suddenly stricken with death. So, he died before arriving in Egypt, just as Allāh had revealed on the tongue of the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him).

And the miracles of the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him) are many, and this is not the place to mention more of them. But, from the most obvious and well-known of his miracles is that nobody was ever known to hate or attack him except that he was then stricken with numerous disasters, mostly in his religion, and this is something well-known that does not require much elaboration.

- His Generosity -

He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was a naturally generous person, and didn't have to change himself to become so. I mentioned previously that he never held back a bit of money. Rather, he would give away whatever he could, and would never turn away someone who came to ask of him something that he owned, whether this was a *dirham* or *dīnār*, some clothing, books, etc. In fact, he was sometimes approached by a needy person when he had nothing with him to give away, and because he didn't want to turn him away empty handed, he would remove something he was wearing and give it to him. This is something that everyone knew of him.

I was told by *Shaykh* Taqī ad-Dīn 'Abdullāh bin Ahmad bin Sa'īd: "I was sitting with *Shaykh al-Islām* Ibn Taymiyyah one day, and a person came and greeted him. The *Shaykh* saw that he was in need of something to wrap his head with. So, without the man even asking, he took off his turban, cut it in half, wrapped his head with one half, and gave the other half to the man."

It might be that some who lack understanding see that this constituted a waste of money on the part of the *Shaykh*, or was a type of sacrifice that detracted from his manhood, and this is not at all the case. He possessed nothing but his clothes, and he saw that if he took off anything but his turban, this would harm him and not be in anyone's interests, and he did not own at the time any other clothing that he did not need and could give away. So, he rushed to cut off a piece of what he didn't wholly need, and ended up simultaneously benefiting his Muslim brother with part of it and himself with the rest of it. This is the best and smartest way of dealing with such situations, and this is the generosity that he became famous for.

As for the form of charity that might constitute a reduction in manhood, this has nothing to do with what happened. Rather, this is from his intense humility, not seeing himself as being great, and not wanting to elevate himself in front of those present, and this is a praiseworthy characteristic that is required according to both religion and logic.

And a similar example was related from the leader of humanity and the best of them in manners, manhood, intellect, and knowledge, Muhammad the *Mustafā* (peace be upon him). It was narrated that he came out to the mosque wearing a black cloak with white borders while a group of Muslims were present. So, one of them saw him and said: "O Messenger of Allāh! Give me this cloak!" And he (peace be upon him) never refused anyone's request. So, he took off the cloak and gave it to the man out of generosity. The people then began criticizing the man for what he did, since the Prophet (peace be upon him) needed what he was wearing, and it was known that he never refused a request. So, the man apologized to them and said: "I did not ask for it so that I would wear it. Rather, I want to be shrouded in it when I die," and the narrator of the story says that he actually did hold onto it until he died and was buried in it.⁴³

This *hadīth* is well-known, and it was reported by many trustworthy narrators, and it is from the clearest of proofs for what we have said. He went above and beyond in generosity and humility, breaking his ego, and displaying beautiful manners. I was told by a trustworthy friend that the *Shaykh* was once walking through the streets, and one of the poor called out to him. He knew that he was needy, and had nothing to give them. So, he took off some of the clothing he was wearing and gave it to him, saying: "This is all I have, and I am sorry that I have nothing more to give you."

This is another example of how he would not own much besides what would bring him nearer to Allāh, and his generosity in giving away anything he had, no matter how small, and this is from the clearest manifestations of sincerity towards Allāh. So, Glorified is the One who leads whom He Wills to what He Wills.

I was also told by a trustworthy friend that the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him) never turned back anyone who would ask him for something he wrote. Rather, he would have him go and choose for himself what he wanted. One time, a man came and asked him for a book that would benefit him. So, he ordered him to enter his library and choose what he wanted. So, the man saw an expensive *Mushaf* between the *Shaykh*'s books, took it, and left. Some of those present criticized the *Shaykh* for this, and he said: "Is it proper of me that I prevent him from something he has asked for? Leave him, as he might benefit from it." And the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was always very harsh against those who would prevent someone from a book of knowledge after he had asked for it, saying: "Knowledge should not be held back from the one who seeks it."

And from his generosity was that he never once looked with desire towards a position of leadership or authority.

These examples of his generosity are enough for the one who wants to follow in his footsteps.

⁴³ Reported by al-Bukhārī (5810) and Ibn Mājah (3555)

- His Strength and Bravery -

He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was from the bravest of people and had the strongest heart. I never saw anyone who stood firmer than he did, or was more focused in Jihād against the enemy than he was. He would engage in Jihād for Allāh with his heart, tongue, and hand, and he would not fear the blame of the blamers instead of Allāh. Many people told me that if the Shaykh (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was in the trenches with the Muslims, he was the one who would keep them firm and solid. If he saw some of the troops wavering, softening up, or showing signs of cowardice, he was the one who would encourage them, keep them firm, higher their morale, and give them glad tidings, and he would promise them victory, success, and war booty, and he would remind them of the virtues of Jihād and the Mujāhidīn and how Allāh descends tranquility upon them.

If he mounted a horse, he would control it with expertise and precision, speeding into the midst of the enemy with utmost bravery and courage. He would sit on his horse like the firmest of knights, and would yell a *takbīr* that would damage the enemy more than any attack would, and he would roam around them like a man who did not fear death.

They relate that they saw him during the conquest of 'Akkah⁴⁴ display bravery that one could not even begin to describe, and that he was the reason that the Muslims ended up taking it, because of his deeds, advice, and sharp perception.

And when the *Sultān* Ghāzān⁴⁵ took over Damascus, the king of the Georgians accepted a large sum of wealth from him in order that he be given free reign to attack the Muslims of Damascus. When the *Shaykh* learned of this, he immediately got up and roused the Muslims' desire for martyrdom, and promised them victory, establishment, security, and the disappearance of their fears. So, a group of the leaders of the society went out with Ibn Taymiyyah to meet *Sultān* Ghāzān. When he saw them, he said: "Who are these people?" It was said to him: "They are the leaders of Damascus." So, he allowed them to enter, and they sat in front of him. The *Shaykh* was the first to enter, and when Ghāzān first saw him, he immediately felt a deep love for him in his heart, and sat him down close to him.

The first thing the *Shaykh* addressed was the issue of having the treacherous Georgian king rule over the Muslims and giving him such vast sums of wealth. He reminded Ghāzān of the sacredness of Muslim blood and admonished him. Ghāzān responded with submission, and this became the reason that the blood of the Muslims was preserved, and their women and children protected. I was informed by a trustworthy friend that *Shaykh* Wajīh ad-Dīn bin al-Manjā (may Allāh have Mercy on him) said: "I was with the *Shaykh* at this meeting, and he would remind the *Sultān* of the words of Allāh and His Messenger (peace be upon him) regarding justice, and he would raise his voice while talking to the point that the *Sultān* was

⁴⁴ A city in northwestern Palestine (also known as Acre), in which one of the most important battles of the Crusades took place in 680 H (1291). Scholars from all sects and schools of thought participated in this battle, and it is often cited by historians as marking the effective end of the Crusades, as it led to the expulsion of the Crusaders from Shām. *Shaykh al-Islām* Ibn Taymiyyah was 28 when he fought in this battle.

⁴⁵ Mahmūd Ghāzān, the most prominent of the Il-Khans (subordinates) to rule the Mongol dynasty in Iran from 1295 to 1304. He is best known for the conversion of his state to Islām, and his wars against Egypt and Syria.

down on his knees. He kept getting closer and closer to him during his talk that his knees almost touched the *Sultān*'s, with the *Sultān* fully attentive to him the entire time, listening to every word, and never turning away. Because of the immense love and respect that Allāh had placed in the *Sultān*'s heart for Ibn Taymiyyah, he asked those present: "Who is this man? I have never seen anyone like him or with a heart as firm as his, not have I been affected by any words as I have been by his, nor have I ever been as submissive to anyone as I have been to him." So, he was told of who he was, and was informed of his knowledge and deeds, and the *Shaykh* told the translator to tell Ghāzān: "You claim to be a Muslim, and that you have judges, scholars, callers to the prayer - from what we have been told - and you still invaded us. Your father and grandfather were disbelievers, and they never did what you have done! We had a pact which we kept, and you broke your pact. You made a promise, and broke your promise." The *Sultān* told him: "If you like, I will make you the ruler of the land of your forefathers, Harrān, and you can move to it." Ibn Taymiyyah said: "By Allāh, I will never leave the land that Ibrāhīm (peace be upon him) migrated to and exchange it for another home."

So, he left this meeting with honor. He had a pure intention when putting himself on the line to preserve the blood of the Muslims, and Allāh gave him what he sought. This was also the reason for most of the Muslim prisoners being freed from the hands of the Mongols and returned to their families. These are all from his great displays of bravery and firmness.

He would always say: "No man fears other than Allāh except that he has a sick heart. A man complained to Ahmad bin Hambal of his fear of some of the rulers, and Ahmad said: "If you were healthy, you would not fear anyone," meaning that his fear was the result of his heart being devoid of health."

I was told that when the *Shaykh* was summoned to meet the *Sultān* Nāsir Muhammad,⁴⁶ he was told: "I am told that the people obey you, and that you seek a position of authority." The *Shaykh* was not intimidated by him, and said to him with a firm heart and a loud voice: "I said this? By Allāh, your kingdom and the kingdom of the Mongols are worth nothing to me." So, the *Sultān* smiled at these words, and answered him based on the love and respect that Allāh had placed in his heart: "By Allāh, you are a truthful man, and the one who told me this about you is a liar," and the love of Ibn Taymiyyah was forever engrained in his heart. Were it not for this love, he would have killed him long ago due to the various lies he was told about him from those who were outwardly righteous and inwardly corrupt and ignorant.

And the innovators, people of desires, and those who traded their religion for the *dunyā* continued to cooperate with each other in their enmity towards him, exerting their efforts in harming him, lying upon him, ascribing to him what he would never say or write in a book or a *fatwā*, and what would never be heard from him in a gathering. Do they not think that Allāh will ask them about all of this and take them to account for it? Have they not heard His Saying:

⁴⁶ al-Malik an-Nāsir Nāsir ad-Dīn Muhammad bin Qalāwūn, the Mamlūk ruler of Egypt during the time of Ibn Taymiyyah. His army marched from Egypt to Syria in 1303 to repel the Mongol invasion, as a result of which the Mongols were defeated in Syria.

وَ لَقَدْ خَلَقْنَا الْإِنْسَانَ وَ نَعْلَمُ مَا تُوَسُّوسُ بِهِ نَفْسُهُ وَ نَحْنُ أَقْرَبُ إِلَيْهِ مِنْ حَبْلِ الْوَرِيدِ * إذ يَتَلَقَّي الْمُتَلَقِّيانَ عَن الْيَمِينَ وَ عَن الشِّمَالَ قَعِيدٌ * مَا يَلْفَظُ مِنْ قَوْلَ إِلاَّ لَدَيْهُ رَقِيبٌ عَتيد

{"And indeed, We have Created man, and We know what his own self whispers to him, and We are nearer to him than his jugular vein. When the two receivers receive, one sitting on the right and one on the left, not a word does he utter except that there is a watcher by him ready to record it."}

Indeed, by Allāh! However, their love of the *dunyā* over the Hereafter has overtaken them, just like their striving for the temporary life over the permanent life has. They envied him because of how he differed from them, because he hated and rejected what they sought, and because he loved what they abandoned and rejected. When Allāh knew his intentions compared to theirs, He did not allow them to gain victory over him, to the point that they never had a meeting or gathering with him except that Allāh caused him to defeat them, demolish their baseless arguments, and expose their evil plots with his tongue.

- His Patience upon Hardship and Firmness upon the Truth until Death -

He was the strongest, most esteemed, and firmest upon the truth of all the people of his time. He was the keenest to implement the truth, and no blame, words, or proof could dissuade him from this. Rather, if the truth became clear to him, he would bite onto it with his molar teeth, and would not turn to anyone who argued against it. Most of the people were united in their enmity for him, and most of those who hated him disguised themselves in the garb of the scholars and righteous folk, while they were in reality the quickest of people in running after the *dunyā* and turning away from the Hereafter.

The reason they hated him was because their only concern was to acquire positions of authority and leadership, and to have the people turn their heads towards them. They saw that Allāh had already elevated him to being the pinnacle in this by placing love and admiration for him in the hearts of everyone, while they had no share of this. So, the decided to become his enemies, and they filled their hearts with envy for him, attempting to hide this reality from the people so that they would not be exposed. They conspired to ascribe lies and falsehood to him and insulted him especially in the presence of the rulers, and they would criticize his verdicts declaring what was *halāl* and *harām*. So, they divided the hearts of the rulers with the lies they told about him, and they forget that they would eventually have to address all of this in front of the Judge of judges, as He will ask if they said all of this truthfully or unjustly, and He will reward the truthful with Paradise, and will take revenge upon the liars.

Some of the people followed these lies simply as blind followers, and became oppressors in regards to the rights of this *Imām*, including those who had become slaves to the rulers, and would obey them and tell them what they wanted to hear in exchange for large sums of wealth. So, this viscous alliance consisted of many from all classes of the society, each having their own evil intentions in joining it.

⁴⁷ Qāf; 16-18

With all of this, the more he saw their efforts to ruin his reputation, the more he strove to support and aide the truth, and the more effective and powerful his arguments and proofs against them became.

He was imprisoned many times, for many months and years, and he never turned his back and ran. His enemies tried to kill him many times, discussing their plans publicly and privately. But, Allāh proceeded to protect him from them. They thought that imprisoning him would relieve them of their worries. But, Allāh turned his imprisonment into a benefit and virtue, and brought out things on the day of his death that, had he been alive to see them, would have cooled his eyes. Allāh - the Exalted - due to His Knowledge of his impending death, relieved him of the worries of the people and caused him to go forth with the truth in the most beautiful manner, considering that he was imprisoned without any crime or offense. Rather, he was imprisoned for the sole reason that he was firm upon the truth.

This is how Allāh spread his knowledge throughout the world, and impressed countless minds with his style, filled countless books and pages with his writings, and suppressed through him the innovators and misguided followers of desires. These are the great results that the Lord of the Heavens brings about for those He Loves and Supports.

- Allāh Made Him an Authority and a Clarifier of Truth and Falsehood -

This is something that is also well-known. He (may Allāh be Pleased with him) did not have a single book or *fatwā* except that he chose in it the strongest textual and logical proofs over all others, and backed up the word of truth with so many clear cut proofs and evidences that whoever comes across them with a pure conscience will have his heart cooled by them and will be utterly convinced that this is the undisputable truth. In all of his writings, you find that if the *hadāth* is authentic, he automatically takes it and acts upon it, and puts it forth over the opinion of any scholar or *mujtahid*.

The neutral observer will notice that his words are in accordance with the Qur'ān and Sunnah, and that he never deviates from them for the words of anyone else, no matter who that person might be, and he did not fear any ruler, authority, whip, or sword in doing this, and he would never abandon them for anyone's opinion. He held tightly to the firmest handhold, acting upon His Saying:

{"So, if you differ in anything amongst yourselves, refer it to Allāh and His Messenger if you believe in Allāh and the Last Day. That is better and more suitable for final determination."}

⁴⁸ an-Nisā'; 59

And:

وَمَا اخْتَلَفْتُمْ فِيهِ مِن شَيْء فَحُكْمُهُ إِلَى اللَّهِ {"And in whatsoever you differ, its ruling is with Allāh…"}

I never heard of anyone who was as well-known as he was in his strict following of the Qur'an and Sunnah, his efforts in extracting their meanings, and his acting based on their injunctions. He never came across an issue where the scholars had previously issued verdicts except that he chose the strongest and closest to the Qur'an and Sunnah from them. Allah blessed him with this characteristic, and He made him an authority for the people of his era. This was such that people from faraway lands would even send to him for fatāwā regarding their situations, and they would ask him to clarify for them confusion they had regarding this and that. So, he would cool their hearts with the most satisfying, solid answers, and he would always support his positions with the clearest proofs from the legitimate statements of the scholars, such that anyone with insight, intellect, and piety who abandoned his desires and came across them would accept them, and the truth would become clear to them. If someone was heard opposing him or attacking his honor, they would always turn out to be from those who were recognized by the general population as being evildoers, and whoever wishes to verify what I am saying, let him look with the eye of insight, as he will not find a scholar from any land who follows this Imām and recognizes the virtues and inspiration granted to him by Allāh, and praises him in every gathering except that behind such a scholar are the most strident followers of the Qur'an and Sunnah, and the busiest in seeking the Hereafter and the most desiring of it, and the farthest of them from avoiding or being ignorant of it. Likewise, you will also not see a single scholar opposing him and overtaken by envy of him except that he is the keenest of them in gathering the delights of the dunya, the greatest of them in showing off and seeking praise, the most indecent of them in manners, the most cooperative with the oppressors in their plots, and the quickest of them to tell a lie.

If you look to those who loved him and those who hated him from the laymen, you will find them to be just as I have described the two groups of scholars above. I tried reflecting and thinking over what I have just said, and I saw that it is exactly as I have described. By Allāh, I do not hesitate in front of anyone in saying this, and whoever doubts what I am saying, let him think himself and he will see what I am saying if he removes from himself the covering of his desires. This is not the case except because of what Allāh Knew of the pure conscience of this *Imām*, and his sincerity and sacrifice in seeking the Pleasure of his Lord and following the *Sunnah* of His Prophet (peace be upon him, his Household, and Companions).

- His Death and the Immense Crowd That Attended His Funeral -

More than one person who was present in Damascus when he died told me that the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him) became sick for a few days, and the writer Shams ad-Dīn al-Wazīr was in Damascus at the time. So, when he knew that the *Shaykh* was sick, he asked to visit him. The *Shaykh* gave him permission to do so, and he sat with him and apologized to

⁴⁹ ash-Shūrā; 10

him for any shortcomings from his side in regards to the rights of the *Shaykh*. So, the *Shaykh* replied to him by saying: "I have forgiven you and all of my enemies who did not know that I was following the truth. I have forgiven King Nāsir for imprisoning me, because he did this based on what he believed from others and not from his own intent, and he is excused for this, as Allāh Knows that he is not one to do this on his own. I have forgiven everyone who had some conflict with me except those who are enemies to Allāh and His Messenger."

They then said that the *Shaykh* remained until the night of the 22nd of the sacred month of Dhu al-Qi'dah of the year 728 H,⁵⁰ and he then proceeded to the Mercy and Pleasure of Allāh - the Exalted - the next morning doing what he was always doing: struggling for Allāh while patient, awaiting his reward, and not showing the slightest bit of cowardice, weakness, or wavering. Rather, when he died, he was busy with Allāh in exclusion to everything else.

They say that as soon as the people heard of his death, there was nobody living in Damascus who wanted to come pray over him and was able who did not do so. Everyone put aside whatever they were doing - closing shops, halting their livelihood and work - and all of the authorities, governors, scholars, jurists, soldiers, generals, men, women, and children from all levels of the society came out for his funeral. To our knowledge, nobody stayed behind from his funeral except for three people who were known for their enmity towards the *Shaykh*. They ran away and hid themselves out of fear that if they went out, the people would throw stones at them and kill them.

So, he (may Allāh be Pleased with him) was washed and shrouded.⁵¹

When he was being washed, the people crowded around so that they would each get some of the water that fell away from his body.⁵² Then, he was brought out for his *janāzah*. As soon as the people saw him, they crowded around him from every corner of the city to seek the blessing of being there. This was to the point that it was feared that he would fall to the ground before arriving at his grave. So, the authorities gathered around where his body was and held the crowds back to prevent it from falling, as they began pushing and shoving each other viscously. They kept pushing them back from the *janāzah* with all their might, and this only served to increase the crowd's force. He was finally brought into the Umayyid Mosque, and despite the fact that it was thought that there would be enough space for everyone, there still remained a large group of people outside. So, they prayed over him (may Allāh be Pleased with him) in the mosque, and he was then carried by the hands of the nobles and

 $^{^{50}}$ Coincides with Tuesday September $27^{th}\ 1328$

⁵¹ Ibn Kathīr mentioned that the deputy of the prison came to give his condolences and sat by Ibn Taymiyyah: "He opened the entrance for those of his close companions and loved ones to enter upon him. They sat by him, cried, and praised him. They then started to wash the *Shaykh*...they only let those who helped in the washing to remain by him. Amongst them was our *Shaykh al-Hāfidh* al-Mizzī and a group of senior righteous and good people - people of knowledge and faith...Then, they proceeded with him to the Umayyid Mosque. There were so many people in front of his *janāzah*, behind it, to its right, and to its left. None but Allāh could enumerate them, and one person shouted out: "This is how the *janāzahs* of the *imāms* of the *Sunnah* are to be!" At that, the people started to cry." See 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (14/138).

⁵² And this was from the severe ignorance of the people, as it is a reprehensible innovation and means to *shirk* to seek blessings from anyone other than the Prophet (peace be upon him).

citizens of Damascus until he was finally placed in a wide hole in the ground, and the rest of the people prayed over him there.⁵³

One of those present said: "I prayed over him in the mosque, and I also had someone save me a spot to pray over him in the center of Damascus, as I wanted to see the massive amount of people. So, while I was praying, I kept looking left and right, and I could not see where the crowd ended! Rather, I saw that the people had taken up every single bit of space that could be taken."

A group of those who were present that day agreed that upon seeing the number of people who prayed over him that day, they easily exceeded 500,000. The experts in history say that they never heard of a funeral prayer that was as big as this except that of *al-Imām* Ahmad bin Hambal (may Allāh be Pleased with him). ⁵⁴ Shams ad-Dīn al-Wazīr finally appeared when he was brought to his grave, as he had not been present before, and he and the governors with him prayed over Ibn Taymiyyah.

No janāzah was ever seen evoking such feelings of respect, veneration, glorification, esteem, and praise from the people, and this was all due to his knowledge, deeds, zuhd, worship, rejection of the dunyā, preoccupation with the Hereafter, his poverty, concern, generosity, manhood, patience, firmness, courage, deep perception, straightforwardness in speaking the truth, harshness against the enemies of Allāh and His Messenger and deviants from His Religion, supporting Allāh and His Messenger and His Religion, his humility, generosity, honor, and respect towards the awliyā' of Allāh, his lack of attention to the worldly delights, his extreme desire for the Hereafter, and his constant pursuit of it. And you would hear of these things and more from men, women, and children, and they would all praise him for what that they knew of him.

He was buried that day (may Allāh be Pleased with him and allow us to be granted similar blessings once again). The people then began gathering from the various villages and towns riding and on foot to pray in turns over his grave, and whenever news of his death reached a certain land, they would offer the prayer in absentia for him in all of its mosques, especially in the towns and villages of Egypt, Shām, Iraq, Tabrīz, al-Basrah, etc.

And the Qur'ān was completed for him more times than can be counted in many places during the days and nights following his death, especially in Damascus, Egypt, Iraq, Tabrīz,

⁵³ He was prayed over by his brother 'Abd ar-Rahmān, and his grave was in the Suft graveyard next to that of his brother 'Abdullāh.

⁵⁴ In 'al-Bidāyah wan-Nihāyah' (14/130), Ibn Kathīr said: "Ahmad bin Hambal said: "Tell the innovators that between us and them are the funerals," and there is no doubt that the funeral of al-Imām Ahmad was vast and great due to how populated his city was, and how the people gathered for him and respected him, and the government loved him. Shaykh Taqī ad-Dīn died in the land of Damascus, and its population was nowhere near that of Baghdād in size. However, they gathered for his funeral in such numbers that if the ruler had forced them to all go out, they would not have been out in the numbers that were seen that day, and this is all for a man who died in a citadel imprisoned by the ruler."

al-Basrah, etc. to the point that reciting the Qur'ān for him became a habit for the people, and copies of the *Mushaf* would be passed around for them to read for him. ⁵⁵

This was all because of what they felt they owed the *Shaykh* (may Allāh be Pleased with him) for guiding them to the truth and the correct methodology with the clear, evident textual and intellectual proofs, especially in regards to the principles of the Religion. Allāh blessed the people in this era in which innovations emerged that killed off the *sunan*, and the majority of its people were drowning in innovation and the *harām* in a way they did not even realize! And Allāh blessed them by having him clarify the principles of the Religion and the true and correct belief for them, as well as his distinguishing refutation of the innovators in a way that has so far remained unsurpassed. This was all done by his tongue, his pen, his books, and the principles he abided by that conformed to the truth and its implications, as well as the clear, simple textual and intellectual proofs he presented that none of the philosophers or debaters could even come close to. He did all of this until he was able to assert his absolute authority and dominance over every innovator, and was able to expose and wipe out the doubts of those who espoused and wished to spread them.

So, may Allāh reward him with the best of rewards on behalf of Islām and the Muslims, and Glorified is the One who gave him what he had, granted him the best guidance to what he was guided to, and provided him with the most beautiful patience until he died, and may He be Pleased with him, and may He grant us and all the Muslims a life and death that is in accordance with the Qur'ān and *Sunnah* until we meet Him, and cause us to hold firmly to them in all that they contain.

⁵⁵ According to the majority of the *Salaf*, including *al-Imām* Ahmad and his companions, as well as some of the companions of Abū Hanīfah and ash-Shāfi'ī, the reward of reciting the Qur'ān reaches the dead person for whom it is intended, while ash-Shāfi'ī himself and Mālik said it does not. See ash-Shawkānī's *'al-Bahr ar-Rā'iq'* (4/105) and Ibn al-Qayyim's *'Kitāb ar-Rāh'* (p. 174).